69996-2

69996-2

No. 699962

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RONALD WASTEWATER DISTRICT, Respondent

v.

RODOLFO APOSTOL, Appellant

2013 JUL - 1 AM 10:45
COURT OF APPEALS DIV 1
STATE OF WASHINGTON

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Rodolfo Apostol, pro se

7936 Union Mills Rd. SE
Lacey, Washington 98503
Home Phone No. (360) 491-3339

I. INTRODUCTION

This case started on August 28, 2008 when Apostol filed complaint to King County Superior Court of Washington State against his former employer Ronald Wastewater District for employment discrimination and termination. Apostol now appeals his denied motion under CR 60 (b) from the same court.

II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS

Assignment of Errors

No.1 The trial court incorrectly applied Washington Law Against Discrimination (Title 49.60), the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. § 12101), and the Industrial Insurance Act (Title 51 RCW) in this case. This was an error of law and is reviewed de novo.

No.2 The trial court erred in denying Apostol's supporting declarations as inadmissible evidence. Expert testimony admissibility is reviewed under an abuse of discretion.

No. 3 The trial court erred in denying Apostol a new trial.

Extraordinary circumstances exist in this case which warrants vacation under CR 60(b) (11). Denying the motion is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard.

Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Errors.

No. 1 The main issue is legal: whether Apostol is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Specifically, on record is Apostol entitled to relief under CR 60(b) (11).

The trial court erred by denying Apostol's motion in favor for the Respondent for disability discrimination, wrongful discharge in violation of Public Policy, and negligence claims under WLAD and The Industrial Insurance Act. This is an error of law and requires vacation.

Chapter RCW 49.60.180 WLAD mandates liberal construction. Apostol workers' compensation claims are central issues to Apostol's litigation. It is proven fact that these claims are not time barred as Respondent claims. Industrial Insurance Acts states that work injuries are tolled from the date which the injury of the worker becomes disabling and from the date the worker seeks treatment for that injury. Not from the date the injury occurred as Respondent and the trial and appeals court concluded in this case and the final judgment. This is an error of law and requires relief. Although, Apostol's wrist fracture injury occurred on August 1, 2005, when assigned by supervisor George Dicks to break concrete using only a sledgehammer for four hours that morning; that injury did not become apparent to Mr. Apostol until he sought medical treatment on January 4, 2006 at Virginia Mason Hospital in Seattle, from Orthopedic Surgeon

M.D. David Kim. CP 1456-1458. Declaration of Randy Baker, CP 1479-1483, SUPRA. Washington State Department of Labor and Industries approved and paid benefits for treatment and lost wages to Apostol workmen's compensation claim. Ibid. On remand, Apostol can present genuine issues and material facts for disability discrimination and retaliation for wrongful discharge in violation of Public Policy. «1».

Chapter RCW 51 Industrial Insurance Act. The exclusive remedy provision of the Industrial Insurance Act (RCW Title 51) does not bar common law actions against an employer for injuries that fall outside the basic coverage of the act, i.e., that constitute neither an "injury" nor an "occupational disease" under the act. «2».

Apostol's mental injuries of depression and post-traumatic stress disorder mirror that of Wheeler. Apostol's PTSD worker's compensation claim was denied by the Division Two, Court of Appeals decision in *Apostol v. Department of Labor and Industries*, as in *Wheeler*. Division Two wrote: "The judge concluded that Apostol did not sustain an industrial injury on September 21, 2005, and that his claim for a stress-related mental condition from a culmination of a series of events was not an occupational disease." «3». The Division II court further states: "The Industrial Insurance Act provides the exclusive remedy for workers

injured in the course of employment and does not authorize the tort recovery Apostol seeks. «4». The Division Two court concludes:

“Rodolfo Apostol appeals the superior court’s decision rejecting his claim for workers’ compensation benefits because he neither sustained an industrial injury nor suffered from an occupational disease. We affirm.”

Ibid, P. 2.

In the ruling, the Division Two court quoted Apostol’s proximate cause of mental injury resulting permanent mental disability. Apostol’s tort claim for mental anguish and pain and suffering for negligence and intentional infliction of emotional distress should be remanded for jury trial and claims for noneconomic damages. Apostol states:

“The ploy used by my employer for over eleven and a half years of employment consisted of constant threats of false write-ups and false accusations, verbal and physical abuse, demotions, denied opportunity for advancement, and threats of my firing. . . . The physical and mental injuries I suffered during my course of employment culminated on September 21, 2005 which [sic] my employer made false accusations and threats which were precursors of me being fired. “AR at 3-4.[Ibid., Page 5].

Furthermore, the declaration from Steve Paulis, CP 1510-1513, Apostol’s supervisor for over nine years from July 1994-October 2003, he states:

“I observed several of Apostol’s co-workers deride him, because he refrained from certain activities to avoid exposure to those chemical fumes. On several occasions I spoke with Montgomery about harassment Apostol was experiencing. Each time I raised the issue, Montgomery told me to not get involved with it. The issue of the harassment of Mr. Apostol

was discussed numerous times at the Board of Commissioners meetings. Art Wadekamper, who is a commissioner of Ronald Wastewater District, told me I should not be involved with this issue. During the numerous conversations, he told me that I could be replaced. I understood that to mean that my continuing to try to stop the harassment of Mr. Apostol could cause me to be fired.”

Furthermore, Mr. Paulis continues:

“Mr. Apostol was senior to some of the employees and his job required that he give direction to those employees. Apostol came into my office several times and told me his subordinates refused to accept his direction. He reported they made threatening gestures towards him in responses to his efforts to direct them. Mr. Apostol told me several times those co-employees Chad Sehnert and Jason Sharpe regularly made derogatory remarks towards him and physically threatened him.”

And Mr. Paulis states:

“Mr. Apostol diligently followed safety rules while working. I observed that it was necessary to remind some of the other employees to comply with safety requirements.”

The trial court erred when it denied Apostol’s motion. Here, the court of appeal should reverse and remand for claims of noneconomic damages for Apostol’s pain and suffering.

It is correct that once the moving party has met its burden of offering factual evidence showing that it is entitled to judgment as a matter of law, the burden shifts to the nonmoving party to "set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial." «5». But "[i]f the moving party does not sustain that burden, summary judgment should not be entered, irrespective of whether the nonmoving party has submitted

affidavits or other materials." «6». Judge Ramsdell writes on February 7, 2013 his denial of Apostol's motion that factored into his decision included pleadings Apostol submitted to the superior court and states: "The pleadings previously filed by Mr. Apostol in the above referenced cause number when he was representing himself." CP 1765. Here, Judge Ramsdell's motion denial, he considered Apostol's original pleadings, Apostol's witnesses' declarations, declarations from expert testimony, and commits legal error. Judge Ramsdell decision is legal error and requires vacation. Discretion is abused when it is based on untenable grounds, such as a misunderstanding of law. «7».

No.2. Can this court determine Defendant is liable for damages due to Apostol?

In *ELLINGSON v. SPOKANE MORTGAGE CO.*, had held that a person could recover damages for mental anguish under RCW 49.60. «8». The decision noted that such recovery is distinguishable from common law recovery for emotional distress based on intentional discrimination or intentional tort because it is created by statute. «9». The opinion recognized that the term "actual damages" included humiliation, mental anguish and suffering. In *KELLY v. AMERICAN STANDARD, INC.*, affirmed emotional distress damages under RCW 49.60 in an action for

age discrimination. «10». There too the trial court refused an instruction requiring outrageous and extreme conduct. «11».

Under RCW 49.60., proof of discrimination results in a finding of liability. The plaintiff, once having proved discrimination, is only required to offer proof of actual anguish or emotional distress in order to have those damages included in recoverable costs pursuant to RCW 49.60. The damages result from the injury, the discrimination. «12». In *Dean v. Metro*, Metro proposed the following instruction which sets out a tort standard for recovery of damages for emotional distress. “To recover for mental anguish and emotional distress, plaintiff must prove that defendant intentionally engaged in outrageous and extreme conduct which resulted in severe emotional distress to plaintiff. “. «13».

The measure of damages for emotional distress has been based primarily on the intentional infliction of emotional distress giving rise to the tort of outrage. «14». Neither of those cases arose under RCW 49.60. RCW 49.60.030(2) provides for recovery of "actual damages sustained by him . . ." In *GLASGOW v. GEORGIA PAC. CORP.*, «15», damages for emotional distress under RCW 49.60 were upheld, the court stating:

"[P]laintiffs have proved the requisite elements necessary to establish their claim of sexual discrimination. Accordingly, the plaintiffs were entitled to recover damages for physical, emotional and mental suffering as they did."

In *Robel v. Roundup Corp*, Robel filed suit against Fred Meyer stating claims for disability discrimination (RCW 49.60.180(3)), retaliation for filing a workers' compensation claim (RCW 51.48.025(1)), negligent and intentional infliction of emotional distress, and defamation. The trial court denied Fred Meyer's motion for summary judgment. «16». In *MARTINI v. BOEING CO.*, Martini argues all damages proximately caused by wrongful discrimination, including loss of pay, may be awarded as "actual damages" pursuant to RCW 49.60.030(2). He further argues an award of damages for front and back pay following a finding of discrimination in violation of RCW 49.60.180(3) is consistent with previous Washington cases, «17», in particular *Dean v. Municipality of Metro*. And, that the cases cited by Boeing are not controlling. «18». Martini cites *Bulaich v. AT&T Info. Sys.*, the Washington case which adopted the doctrine of constructive discharge, arguing constructive discharge was intended to benefit employees, and that Boeing's proposition is contrary to the intent of Washington's law against discrimination as interpreted by this court. The Washington Employment Lawyers' Association filed a brief as amicus curiae which support Martini's position. «19». Washington's law against discrimination (RCW

49.60) permits recovery of front and back pay for a successful discrimination claim when these damages are proximately caused by unlawful discrimination. The issue presented arises under Washington's law against discrimination, which mandates liberal construction, RCW 49.60.020 ("The provisions of this chapter shall be construed liberally for the accomplishment of the purposes thereof."); «20», and which this court has declared "embodies a public policy of the 'highest priority.'" «21»

In *WHEELER v. CATHOLIC ARCHDIOCESE*, our Supreme Court states: "For purposes of awarding attorney fees in a discrimination action under RCW 49.60.030(2), a plaintiff is a "prevailing party" if it succeeds on any significant issue which achieves some benefit the party sought in bringing suit." «22». Here, Apostol is entitled to attorney fees if he is the "prevailing party". In *DEAN v. METROPOLITAN SEATTLE*, Dean testified that while pursuing another position within Metro he exhausted his financial resources. He was forced to sell furniture, clothing and jewelry to live. He moved to California and stayed with his mother. He borrowed money from his family and was forced to go on medical assistance. There was sufficient evidence introduced to warrant an instruction on emotional distress damages. The jury, after weighing the evidence, could have found that Dean suffered mental anguish as a result

of the discrimination. However, since neither party requested a special verdict, it is impossible to determine the precise amount or indeed whether the jury awarded anything for mental anguish Under RCW 49.60, proof of discrimination results in a finding of liability. The plaintiff, once having proved discrimination, is only required to offer proof of actual anguish or emotional distress in order to have those damages included in recoverable costs pursuant to RCW 49.60. The damages result from the injury, the discrimination. «23». Here, Apostol's situation mirrors Dean, Apostol could find no meaningful work despite his excellent academic achievement, a Bachelors of Science degree in Engineering from Washington State University June 1981, Professional Engineering Certificate from the State of Washington, January 2001, No. 23811., Apostol had no money for rent or pay for bills, he moved out of his apartment in Seattle and moved home with his parents in May 2007 in Lacey, Washington. Apostol had to borrow money from his family and from his bank for his medical bills and medications, his health worsen until he started receiving Social Security Disability Income in July 2011, Apostol was overwhelmed with his own legal matters since no attorney would represent him and Apostol learn the law pertaining to his case online, Apostol wrote and submitted all his legal briefs, appeared pro se

in all his judicial and administrative proceedings, searched and spoke with potential healthcare providers for his worsen medical conditions, had been hospitalized for overnight sleep studies, met with many medical doctors and psychologist for interviews and testing, and followed up on ongoing medical problems concerning colitis and gastritis diagnosis, dealing with constant body pain, headaches, insomnia, anxiety. A jury would agree with Apostol had suffered mental anguish and his health was frail.

Here, on remand, Apostol can prove damages as required under statute and common law under Chapter RCW 49.60 WLAD and Chapter RCW 51. the Industrial Insurance Act (IIA).

No. 3 APOSTOL WAS FOUND DISABLED UNDER THE AMERICAN'S WITH DISABILITIES ACT (ADA) BY THE SOCIAL SECURITY ADMINISTRATION (SSA).....16.

1. The Social Security Administration determined Apostol became disabled on September 21, 2005 and within the statute of limitations for Apostol's litigation.
2. Our Washington State Supreme Court adopts the definition of disability under the ADA in McClarty v. Totem Electric (2006).

3. If Findings were made, the trial court would find Apostol disabled and summary judgment would not have been made.

Without Findings Apostol's appeals were fruitless and prejudice his case.

Summary Judgment would not have been proper.

a. Apostol's disability discrimination and retaliation claims under Chapter RCW 49.60.180 and Chapter RCW 51. would be reversed.

b. THE INDUSTRIAL INSURANCE ACT IS NOT EXCLUSIVE AND MANDATES A TORT IN CIVIL COURT FOR INJURIES (PTSD) SUFFERED OUTSIDE COVERAGE OF THE ACT. (NOT AN INDUSTRIAL INJURY AND NOT AN OCCUPATIONAL DISEASE). Division II, in the case of Apostol v. Department of Labor and Industries, «24».

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APOSTOL'S CR 60(b) (11) MOTION.

Assignment of Errors.

1. The trial court denied Apostol a new trial. This is an abuse of discretion and an error of law and should be vacated.

2. The trial court's failure to make the necessary findings of fact and conclusions of law is an error of law and requires vacation. If the trial court had made findings, the record demonstrates that the Respondent

suffered no prejudice and that the Appellant had good reason for bringing his action when he did.

3. The record is filled with constitutional and statutory violations made by the Respondent that were not properly weighed by the trial court.

4. Medical Nexus.....20

5. The Respondent's misconduct and deception also provide a good reason for the motion to vacate.23

6. Irregularities.....44

THE TRIAL COURT AND THE RESPONDENT MISAPPLIED WASHINGTON'S LAWS AGAINST DISCRIMINATION (WLAD) CHAPTER RCW 49.60.180 AND THE INDUSTRIAL INSURANCE ACT (IIA) OF WASHINGTON STATE CHAPTER RCW 51. DUE PROCESS REQUIREMENTS.....30

The Supreme Court has the ultimate authority to construe statutes. «25».

And the Supreme Court has the ultimate authority to construe RCW 49.60.030. «26». Here, Apostol has sufficient evidence to present to a jury.

No.4 DUE PROCESS REQUIRES THAT APOSTOL MEET THE FIRST STANDARD OF COMPENTENCY (WHEN HE IS CAPABLE

OF UNDERSTANDING THE NATURE OF THE PROCEEDINGS AND IS CAPABLE OF RATIONALLY ASSISTING HIS COUNSEL IN DEFENDING) IN ORDER FOR THE PROCEEDINGS TO GO FORWARD AND THAT HE BE REPRESENTED BY COUNSEL IF HIS ABILITY TO ADEQUATELY REPRESENT HIMSELF IS NOT CONFIRMED.

An attorney who was not competent at the time of a disciplinary proceeding is entitled to have the findings from the proceeding vacated and to have a de novo proceeding when he is competent. Apostol is entitled to have the trial court judgment vacated and have a new trial with counsel when he is competent.

Although trial Judge Ramsdell stated Apostol was sufficient capable in handling his affairs during trial and during the interactions with defendant legal counsel, his psychiatrist testified through declarations that his mental condition at the time of his summary judgment hearings interfered with his understanding of the underlying situation and made it impossible for him to respond appropriately or to raise legitimate defenses. These are not mere mistakes in judgment, as argued by Defendant counsel. These symptoms of mental illness may affect Apostol's legal competence to appear in his oral arguments at Superior court and the Court of Appeals.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Apostol became disabled while working for Ronald Wastewater District. Washington State Laws against Discrimination (WLAD) and the Americans with Disabilities Acts (ADA) of 1990 were violated by the employer. Justice demands an award for Damages to Apostol. At what cost?

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In order to preserve due process rights, certain rules and guidelines must be met in this case. Pro se pleadings must be liberally construed. WLAD and the Industrial Insurance Act (IIA) mandate liberal construction and favor goes to the injured and disabled worker carried down through Legislation (RCW 49.60.010), and Supreme Court rulings. Misconduct and irregularities in court procedures (displayed here) will not do. The proper legal standards in court procedures for mental disabled pro se litigants in civil cases must be met in order to meet due process requirements.

V. ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for a decision granting a motion to vacate under CR 60(b) is abuse of discretion. *Lockett v. Boeing Co.*, «27». A court

abuses its discretion when its decision is based on untenable grounds or reasoning. «28». Questions of law are reviewed de novo, *Morin*, 160 Wn.2d at 753. Among other things, discretion is abused when it is based on untenable grounds, such as a misunderstanding of law. *Braam v. State*, «29».

B. SCOPE OF REVIEW

RULE 2.5 CIRCUMSTANCES WHICH MAY AFFECT

(a). **Errors Raised for First Time on Review.** The appellate court may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court. However, a party may raise the following claimed errors for the first time in the appellate court: (1) lack of trial court jurisdiction, (2) failure to establish facts upon which relief can be granted, and (3) manifest error affecting a constitutional right.

MULTIPLE GROUNDS UNDER CR 60(b)

A party seeking the vacation of a judgment may raise as many of the grounds set forth in CR 60(b) as is appropriate under the circumstances. «30».

DISABILITY DEFINED

A person has a "disability" for purposes of a disparate treatment disability discrimination claim under RCW 49.60.180 if the person (1) has a

physical or mental impairment that substantially limits one or more major life activities, (2) has a record of such impairment, or (3) is regarded as having such impairment. A "major life activity" is a task that is central to a person's everyday activities. "Substantially limits" means unable to perform a major life activity that the average person in the general population can perform. «31». Social Security Administration's (SSA) determination can be found at CP1498-1503.WSLAD, the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) of 1990 (ADA), and the ADA Amendments Act of 2008 concluded by SSA Administrative Law Judge Thomas Robinson. CP 1473-1475. ALJ Robinson DECISION states:

Based on the application for a period of disability and disability insurance benefits filed on March 20, 2009, the claimant has been disabled under sections 216(i) and 223(d) of the Social Security Act since September 21, 2005.

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