49996-5

No. 699962-0 SEA

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RODOLFO APOSTOL, Appellant

٧.

RONALD WASTEWATER DISTRICT, Respondent

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Scott R. Sawyer
Washington State Bar No. 20582
Daniel P. Mallove
Washington State Bar No. 13158
LAW OFFICE OF DANIEL P. MALLOVE, PLLC
2003 Western Avenue, Suite 400
Seattle, Washington 98121
Telephone: (206) 239-9933

Fascimile: (206) 587-0277

Attorneys for Respondent

ORIGINAL

I. INTRODUCTION

This is appellant Rodolfo Apostol's ("Apostol") second appeal to this Court regarding his dismissed wrongful termination claims against Ronald Wastewater District ("the District"). The Honorable Jeffrey M. Ramsdell dismissed those claims after two separate summary judgment hearings in March and April, 2010. Those orders of dismissal were then affirmed by this Court on July 5, 2011¹, and Apostol's Petition for Review was denied by the Supreme Court on January 5, 2012.² It cost the District over \$185,000.00 to defend Apostol's dismissed claims through denial of his petition for review to the Supreme Court.³

In January 2012, Apostol retained new counsel to bring a Motion to Vacate the prior judgments of the Superior Court.⁴ The sole basis for Apostol's motion was his claim that he was "mentally incompetent" to represent himself in the prior lawsuit, because (1) an administrative law judge ruled after his wrongful termination claims were dismissed that he was "disabled" for purposes of receiving Social Security benefits, and (2) based on assorted declarations of individuals retroactively attesting to his "incompetence." He argued that, under CR 60(b)(11), "extraordinary circumstances" were present such that the prior judgments of Judge

¹ CP 1419-1437

² CP 1735

³ CP 1599-1600

⁴ CP 1479

Ramsdell should be vacated for reasons justifying relief. Judge Ramsdell denied the motion to vacate, giving rise to this second appeal.⁵

Much of Apostol's current brief re-argues why his various theories for wrongful termination should be revived. However, those arguments are irrelevant here, since dismissal of those claims has been affirmed on appeal. Of the three "assignments of error" Apostol argues justify a reversal of the trial court's denial of his motion to vacate, only the third is relevant because the first two pertain to his prior appeal. The sole issue for review is whether the trial court abused its discretion when it denied Apostol's motion to vacate.

Although not easy to follow, the crux of Apostol's argument on appeal is this:

Does the finding of an administrative law judge in 2011 that Apostol is mentally "disabled" for purposes of a claim for Social Security disability benefits (and has been since 2005), as well as post-judgment declarations from individuals attesting to his disability, justify vacating the summary judgments of dismissal against Apostol because he was "incompetent" (i.e. too mentally disabled) to represent himself during his wrongful termination lawsuit?

⁵ CP 1754-55

⁶ Those are: (1) that the trial court failed to correctly apply several employment statutes; (2) that the trial court erred in denying Apostol's supporting declarations in his original summary judgment hearing; and (3) that the trial court erred in denying his Motion to Vacate and for a new trial given that "extraordinary circumstances" existed which warranted relief under CR 60(b)(11).

As shown below, the clear answer is that the trial court properly exercised its discretion by denying Apostol's motion to vacate.

II. STATEMENT OF ISSUE

1. Whether the trial court abused its discretion when it denied Apostol's Motion to Vacate based on the argument he was "incompetent" while representing himself *pro se* between 2008 (when his suit was filed) and 2010 (when his suit was dismissed).

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Proceedings to vacate judgments are equitable in nature, and the Court should exercise its authority liberally to preserve substantial rights and to do justice between the parties. *In re Marriage of Hardt*, 39 Wn.App. 493, 496 (Div. 3, 1985). The granting of a motion to vacate a judgment is directed to the discretion of the trial court, and will not be reversed in the absence of a manifest abuse of that discretion. *Gustafson v. Gustafson*, 54 Wn.App. 66, 70 (Div. 1, 1989).

IV. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

- A. The trial court properly denied Apostol's Motion to Vacate and did not abuse its discretion in so doing.
 - 1. There are no "extraordinary circumstances" present which justify vacating the underlying judgments which dismissed Apostol's claims over three years ago.

CR 60(b)(11) is a "catch all" provision authorizing judgments to be vacated for "any other reason justifying relief." The use of the catch all provision "is confined to situations involving *extraordinary circumstances* not covered by any other section of the rule." *Summers v. Dept. of Revenue*, 104 Wn.App. 87, 14 P.3d 902 (Div. 1, 2001). Below, Apostol sought to justify vacating the judgments of dismissal from 3 years ago on the grounds that he was "incompetent due to mental illness" at the time he represented himself.

In opposing Apostol's motion to vacate in the trial court, the District argued that several issues needed to be addressed when ruling on Apostol's retroactive claim of "incompetence":

- (1) Who is "competent" to testify and/or represent themselves pro se in a civil action?
- (2) What duty does a trial court have to assess the competence or capacity of a *pro se* plaintiff?
- (3) What evidence was there during the pendency of the trial court litigation that Apostol was incompetent to represent himself?
- (4) What new evidence is there that Apostol was incompetent to represent himself during the pendency of the trial court litigation?

(5) What does Washington Law say about the "post-judgment" declarations of Doctors which find the retroactive "incompetency" of a litigant, and their effect on prior judgments on the merits?

Each of these questions is addressed below.

a. <u>Under Washington law, Apostol was legally</u> "competent" to represent himself *pro se* in his civil lawsuit against the District.

Apostol argued that he was both (1) incompetent to represent himself and (2) incompetent to testify as a witness during the trial court action. Washington law establishes he was neither.

(i) <u>Washington Standard for Legal "Competence" to</u> represent oneself *Pro Se*.

In Washington, mental competence of litigants is presumed. Vo. v. Pham, 81 Wash.App. 781, 784, 916 P.2d 464 (Div.1, 1996). In that case, the Court considered the test for a pro se civil litigant's competency which would require a Court to step in to appoint a guardian ad litem. The party, a defendant in the quiet title action, exhibited bizarre behavior at trial. Nevertheless, the court declined to conduct a competency hearing or appoint a guardian ad litem because it felt it did not have a sufficient record, including psychiatric evaluations. After judgment was entered against the defendant, she appealed claiming the court erred by failing to initiate a competency hearing and to have a guardian appointed. The

Court of Appeal agreed. In doing so, it considered the applicable standard for determining competency of a civil litigant by citing the Supreme Court in *Graham v. Graham*, 40 Wn.2d 66-67, 240 P.2d 564 (1952):

Graham teaches that the court should appoint a guardian ad litem for a litigant when it is "reasonably convinced that a party is not competent, understandingly and intelligently, to comprehend the significance of legal proceedings and the effect and relationship of such proceedings in terms of the best interests of such party litigant."

Here, there was no evidence during the trial court proceeding that Apostol failed "understandingly and intelligently, to comprehend the significance of legal proceedings and the effect and relationship of such proceedings in terms of [his] best interests." Consider the following facts:

- Apostol clearly knew the significance of the legal proceedings such that he filed suit because "[he] feared that if [he] did not file the lawsuit then, the statute of limitations would expire." (CP 1495, Apostol Declaration at 11:22-23)
- Apostol's Complaint alleged 13 causes of action against the District;⁷
- Apostol appeared at each hearing noted with the court;
- Apostol responded to written discovery;

⁷ CP 1422-23

- Apostol corresponded back and forth with the District's counsel⁸, including stating that he would "follow the Local Rules of the Superior Court for King County";
- Apostol responded to the District's motions for summary judgment, and represented himself at the hearings;
- Apostol timely filed a notice of appeal, authored his appellate briefs, and argued his appeal;
- Apostol petitioned the Supreme Court for review, and authored the petition;
- Apostol filed at least two other lawsuits pro se at the same time he sued the District for wrongful termination.¹⁰

The fact that an administrative law judge found in June 2011¹¹ that Apostol had anxieties sufficient to qualify for a "disability" with the Social Security Administration—a proceeding conducted <u>after</u> the dismissal of his claims and in which the District did not participate—does not change the fact that he was competent to proceed *pro se* as a civil litigant between August 2008 and April 2010. Neither do the declarations submitted from individuals who had no contact with him during that period.

(ii) Apostol also met the Washington Standard for Legal "Competence" to Testify.

⁸ A true and correct copy of email correspondence between the District's counsel and Apostol is found at CP 1622-1679, the Sawyer Declaration as Exhibit 2(a)-(q).

⁹ CP 1632

¹⁰ CP 1600, 1613-20

¹¹ CP 1499-1503

In Washington, adult witnesses are presumed competent to testify. State v. Smith, 97 Wn.2d 801, 802-03 (1982). To be legally competent to testify, one must be of "sound mind and discretion." RCW 5.60.020. Those of "unsound mind," and those "incapable of receiving just impressions of the facts or of relating to them truly" are incompetent to testify. RCW 5.60.050. To be of "unsound mind," means a total lack of comprehension or the inability to distinguish between right and wrong. State v. Johnston, 143 Wash. App. 1, 13 (2007). Just because a witness receives treatment for mental disorders is not sufficient in and of itself to demonstrate that he is of "unsound mind." Id. at 19.

The Washington Supreme Court has defined an "unsound mind" as follows:

[W]e think it must include those persons only who are commonly called insane; that is to say, those suffering from some derangement of the mind rendering them incapable distinguishing right from wrong. It cannot include within its terms the mere ignorant or uneducated, nor those who are incapable of receiving all of the impressions within the comprehension of those more commonly gifted. In other words, the statutory term refers to those who are without comprehension at all, not to those whose comprehension is merely limited.

State v. Wyse, 71 Wash.2d 434, 436, 429 P.2d 121 (1967)

Accordingly, the threshold for witness competency is very low. An individual must understand the nature of the oath to tell the truth, and he must be capable of giving a somewhat coherent account of his or her observations. *State v. Johnston, supra*, 143 Wash. App. at 18-19. That test, as applied to Apostol, does not suggest he was "incompetent" to testify in the trial court.

b. The trial court had no cause to have Apostol's competency assessed given his actions during the lawsuit.

Under Washington law, a plaintiff has a constitutionally protected right to represent himself in a court of law, and is presumed to be competent to do so. In undertaking that task, the *pro se* plaintiff is presumed to know the laws and correct procedure, and is held to the same standard as other litigants. *In Re Marriage of Olson*, 69 Wn.App. 621, 626 (Div. 1, 1993). Under RCW 4.08.060, a trial court judge may appoint a guardian whenever an incapacitated person is a party to litigation in a superior court. However, the Court need not act *sua sponte* to appoint a guardian unless it is "reasonably convinced of the mental incompetency of such party." *Graham v. Graham*, 40 Wn.2d 66-67, 240 P.2d 564 (1952). The determination of witness competency rests primarily with the trial judge who sees the witness, notices his manner and demeanor, and considers his or her capacity and intelligence. *State v. Swan*, 114 Wn.2d

613, 645 (2003). A court does not err by failing to *sua sponte* conduct a competency hearing, if the record reflects that the witness was reasonably capable of recalling and recounting the events in question. *State v. Johnston, supra*, at 14.¹²

There was no evidence during the trial court proceedings that Apostol was a person of "unsound mind," or incompetent to represent himself under the *Graham* standard. Apostol neither claimed he was mentally incompetent to proceed on his own behalf, nor did he exhibit any signs of being unable to act as his own counsel. Indeed, before he brought this action against the District, Apostol brought four other actions *pro se* in State and Federal Court. (CP 1605-1619) At no time did Mr. Apostol inform the Court or opposing counsel that he was incapable of representing himself during the lawsuit. (CP 1602 at paragraph 7)

In all correspondence with Apostol, defense counsel had no reason to suspect that Mr. Apostol was legally incompetent. (CP 1622-1679) Although he was combative, and unrealistic about his case, there is nothing in that correspondence to suggest he failed to comprehend "the significance of legal proceedings and the effect and relationship of such proceedings on him."

¹² Washington law accords with FRCP 17. Where a party's conduct in court and out of court does not raise so serious a question of his mental competence at the time of trial to require a collateral judicial inquiry as his actions, the Court has no duty to conduct a Rule 17 hearing. *Hudnall v. Sellner*, 800 F.2d 377 (4th Circuit 1986), cert. den. 479 U.S. 1069 (1987).

c. The "new evidence" submitted by Apostol (that he was incompetent to represent himself during the pendency of the trial court litigation the trial court) was weighed by the Trial Court and the Motion to Vacate was properly denied.

The trial court action lasted from August 28, 2008 (Complaint filed) to April 23, 2010 (dismissal of remaining claims on Summary Judgment). To support his motion to vacate under CR 60(b)(11), Apostol submitted the declarations of five individuals to support his claim that he was 'incompetent" to represent himself and/or testify in that action. All of these declarations were admitted by the trial court, and considered by Judge Ramsdell when ruling on Apostol's motion to vacate. As shown below, there are significant problems with the declarations. Only one of the declarants (his personal physician, Dr. Mayeda) actually saw or spoke to Apostol during the pendency of his lawsuit, and Dr. Mayeda's medical records show no evidence of Apostol's claimed "incompetency."

(i) <u>Susan Mindenberghs</u>. An attorney, she represented Apostol from May 2005-September 2005. On the basis of a phone call she had with him in September 2005, she somehow concluded Apostol was incompetent to represent himself in *August 2008*! Other than that, she had

¹³ The District unsuccessfully moved to strike each of these Declarations. All Declarations submitted by Apostol in support of his Motion to Vacate were admitted by Judge Ramsdell prior to his denial of Apostol's motion to vacate. (CP 1766-67)

no contact with Apostol during the time his claims were litigated below. (CP 1508-1509)

- (ii) <u>Stephen Paulis</u>. Last worked with Mr. Apostol in 2003, when he retired. He testified that Apostol's work performance was "superb." Yet his declaration says nothing about his interaction with Mr. Apostol between August 2008 and April 2010, when Apostol claims he was incompetent to represent himself. (CP 1511-1513)
- (iii) <u>Dr. David Dixon</u>. He evaluated Mr. Apostol in 2006, and later in February 2007 for purposes of his claim for workplace injuries before the Department of Labor and Industries (which he lost). (CP 1517) Thereafter, he never saw Mr. Apostol again until June of 2012 when he was asked to evaluate him by Apostol's new lawyer (5 years later!). (CP 1517-18) On the basis of that "post-judgment, post-appeal, and post-petition evaluation," he somehow concluded that Mr. Apostol was incompetent to represent himself from August 2008 to April 2010. Although he opined that "Mr. Apostol's mental illnesses likely rendered him unable to represent himself in a Court or any adversarial proceeding [since] 2005...," he failed to establish that he had any contact whatsoever with Apostol from February 20, 2007 to June 2012. (CP 1519)
- (iv) <u>Dr. Hanan Berman</u>. His declaration stated that he treatedMr. Apostol for anger management in 1997 and 1999, and then again

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